
MINUTES
(Subject to Approval by the Committee)
Natural Resources Interim Committee

Monday, October 28, 2024
8:30 AM

State Capitol
EW42

Boise, Idaho
Members in attendance: Cochair Senator Van T. Burtenshaw and Senators Jim Guthrie, Lori
Den Hartog, Mark Harris, and Carrie Semmelroth; Cochair Representative Britt Raybould and
Representatives (Speaker) Mike Moyle, Megan Blanksma, Ron Mendive, and Ned Burns (Ad Hoc);
Absent/Excused: Senator Geoff Schroeder (Ad Hoc) and Representative Ilana Rubel. Legislative
Services Office (LSO) staff: Alli Olson, Janet Jessup, and Jennifer Kish.

Audience sign-in: Clete Edmunson - Assoc. of Loggers of ID; John Williams - Bonneville Power
Administration (BPA); Tara Reichert and Shane Roberts - Idaho Dept. of Fish and Game (IDFG); Lloyd
Knight and Allison Ginn - Idaho State Dept. of Agriculture (ISDA); Jeff Bitton - Idaho Outfitters and
Guide Assoc. (IOGA); Aspen Shumpert - KTVB news; John Simpson - IWC; Shelley Keen and Cynthia
Clark - Idaho Dept. of Water Resources (IDWR); Elizabeth Criner - Simplot/Far West Agribusiness
Assoc. (FWAA); Robert Anderst - RischPisca/Idaho Ground Water Assoc. (IGWA)

NOTE: Presentations and handouts provided by the presenters/speakers are posted to the Idaho
Legislature's website https://legislature.idaho.gov/sessioninfo/2024/interim/natr/natr-materials/ and
copies of those items are on file at the Legislative Services Office in the State Capitol. Recordings of
the meeting also may be found under the committee's listing on the website.

Cochair Raybould called the meeting to order at 8:32 a.m.; a silent roll call was taken. Cochair
Raybould asked for action on the minutes of the November 6, 2023 meeting. Senator Harris made a
motion to approve the minutes; the minutes were approved by a unanimous voice vote.

DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND GAME UPDATES

Cochair Raybould called upon Jim Fredericks, Director of the Idaho Department of Fish and Game
(IDFG), for the department's presentation to the committee. Mr. Fredericks' portion of the
presentation covered the non-resident tag issuance advisory group and the hunting and advanced
technology working group.
• Cochair Raybould inquired about the financial shift/effect of reducing the amount of non-resident

tags from 13% to 10% of all available tags. Mr. Fredericks responded that reducing non-resident
tags to 10% was not the goal but rather an option to consider; however, he would request a
method to compensate for the loss of revenue if that was done.

• Rep. Moyle asked how many other states had a 10% limit on non-resident tags. Mr. Fredericks
did not know that data. Rep. Moyle asked whether increasing the fee for non-resident tags
could compensate the loss of revenue. Mr. Fredericks responded that the committee had not
considered that option yet. Rep. Moyle inquired whether an increase would be issued in rules or
in statute. Mr. Fredericks noted that the Legislature gave the department the option to discount
tags but not to raise fees. Rep. Moyle asked how Idaho's non-resident tag fees compared to
other states. Mr. Fredericks responded that Idaho was in the top 3% when comparing western
states, but it was not easy to compare the types of tags.

• Rep. Blanksma asked about the amount of comments from Idaho residents regarding the
non-resident tag issue. Mr. Fredericks responded that it was just over 50%; noting that residents

https://legislature.idaho.gov/sessioninfo/2024/interim/natr/natr-materials/
https://legislature.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/sessioninfo/2024/interim/241028_natr_01_IDFG_NR Interim committee presentation -IDFG.pdf


were very engaged on that topic both out of concern for themselves and for friends who
hunted in Idaho.

• Sen. Semmelroth asked what percentage of the department's budget was funded by the
non-resident tag fees. Mr. Fredericks did not have that data with him, but would follow up
with the committee.

• Cochair Raybould asked about the number of FOIA [freedom of information act] requests over
the last 12-24 months. Mr. Fredericks responded that it was a significant increase. Cochair
Raybould requested that he include the cost associated with fulfilling those requests when he
reported the number of requests.

Jon Rachael, Deputy Director, of the IDFG, discussed wildlife management issues on grizzly bears
and wolves.
• Rep. Blanksma inquired about the cost to clear apples from private property to prevent grizzly

bear interactions. Mr. Rachael reported that he didn't have that information but it was mostly
done by volunteers. Cochair Raybould requested that the department report on the cost of such
projects if not done by volunteers.

• Cochair Burtenshaw asked about the increase in Idaho's grizzly bear population and the type
of interactions occurring. Mr. Rachael noted that the population was indeed increasing, their
geographical range was spreading, and interactions with humans were more common. Cochair
Burtenshaw asked whether bears were being removed. Mr. Rachael reported that bears were
being removed by federal fish and game when evidence was available. Cochair Burtenshaw
inquired about remedies for the valuation of sheep and cattle lost to predators. Mr. Rachael
commented that it was fortunate that compensation was available for lost livestock but that there
were not many effective ways to deter the bears.

• Rep. Moyle inquired about methods of taking wolves by wildlife services. Mr. Rachael reported
that the use of radio collars helped track the animals better and suggested the use of more
private trappers.

Tricia Hebdon, Asst. Chief of Wildlife, discussed chronic wasting disease; no questions were asked
following this presentation.

DEPARTMENT OF LANDS: FIRE SEASON UPDATE

At 9:45 a.m., Dustin Miller, Director of Idaho Dept. of Lands (IDL), and Josh Harvey, Fire Management
Bureau Chief, provided an update of the IDL Wildland Fire Program and the 2024 Fire Season.
• Rep. Blanksma inquired about the Normal School allocation. Mr. Miller explained that Lewis-Clark

State College was the recipient of those funds.
• Rep. Burns inquired whether any of the 200 human-caused fires resulted in prosecution and

reparations for the damages and how the amount of human-caused fires could be reduced. Mr.
Miller reported that prosecution does occur and that reparation for the damage and firefighting
expenses are sought by the department. He noted that a public awareness campaign exists but it
needed to be more aggressive, especially to reach those new to the Idaho landscape.

• Sen. Guthrie inquired about the number of claims and the amount of funds that were recovered.
Mr. Harvey reported that reparations averaged a couple hundred-thousand dollars every year and
the department was currently working on a couple multi-million dollar claims. He noted that
insurance companies often work with the department to assist with those claims, but that the
department would attempt reparations at any amount.

• Sen. Harris asked about the decrease in the number of firefighters. Mr. Harvey responded that
wild land firefighting was a very physical and challenging job. He noted that the amount of time
that members are assigned to a fire, the increased length of the fire season, and the number of
fires that need assignments made it challenging to keep staff.

NATURAL RESOURCES INTERIM COMMITTEE
Monday, October 28, 2024 – Minutes – Page 2

https://legislature.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/sessioninfo/2024/interim/241028_natr_02_IDL_Wildland Fire Program and 2024 Fire Season Update.pdf


• Rep. Burns inquired about the valuation of the destruction of land and lost resources. Mr. Miller
noted the loss of the timber that could have been sold at full value is often sold at salvage value,
if it gets sold at all. Additionally, the loss of grazing grasses was invaluable to ranchers. Rep.
Burns asked how the Legislature could assist to recover a more true value of the losses. Mr.
Harvey noted that there was not a strong process to recover the financial cost; often liens were
pursued but the values were above and beyond and property value.

• Rep. Blanksma inquired about the findings related to the Valley Fire in 2024. Mr. Miller reported
that the investigation pointed to a faulty control arm on an Idaho Power pole and that there
was current litigation regarding the incident.

• Sen. Harris inquired about the current price of timber and whether the fires influenced it. Mr.
Miller reported that during the COVID pandemic the prices were very high; prices weren't that
high now but it fluctuated.

• Rep. Burns inquired about the recent fire retardant pre-treatment that was tested along the
roadways. Mr. Miller reported that the test was successful and the department looked forward to
further tests and reporting its success.

• Cochair Raybould, citing the financial devastation and health concerns of western states, inquired
whether federal agencies were willing to have more serious discussions about the fire fighting
policy on federal lands. Mr. Miller responded that his relationship with the U.S. Forest Service
was good and he hoped that conversation could occur.

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE: QUAGGA MUSSELS UPDATE

At 10:35 a.m., Chanel Tewalt, Director of the Idaho Dept. of Agriculture, provided her presentation
on Snake River Quagga Mussel Treatment to the committee.
• Rep. Blanksma expressed concern about the quagga mussel treatment since her farm resides

along that river and noted that pest control is an ongoing process. Ms. Tewalt agreed that the
treatment would not necessarily be a "one and done" process.

• Sen. Guthrie inquired about veliger detection and whether those were also targeted by the
treatment. Ms. Tewalt explained that having a low count of veligers was good and bad, in that
having less was a good thing in trying to treat the problem but having a small amount made
it difficult to detect them. The department's treatment is severe in order to treat all stages
that might exist and it is lethal to all stages.

• Sen. Harris inquired about the origin of the infestation and how to prevent other occurrences.
Ms. Tewalt noted that the origin was not known and the solution to prevent other occurrences
required public awareness of the problem at a national level, not just the local and state level.

• Cochair Raybould inquired about lessons learned for awareness to the public during the treatment
process. Ms. Tewalt explained that the transparency of the process was key and the department
invited news media and local political and industrial leaders to witness the process. In addition,
there was already a public awareness campaign aimed at recreationists at gas stations, boating
docks, etc. to be aware of the issue.

• Sen. Burtenshaw inquired about additional signage and inspection stations at the Idaho borders.
Ms. Tewalt explained that additional permanent structures were in the works along with
Department of Public Works for the inspection stations.

• Cochair Raybould inquired about the ability to track watercraft permits. Ms. Tewalt explained
that she would need to consult with the Department of Parks and Recreation on that inquiry.
She explained that the tracking of quagga genetics would be a better method, though it was
not yet available. Cochair Raybould inquired about the data collected at the ISDA watercraft
inspection stations. Ms. Tewalt reported that those details were tracked and shared with other
states and partner entities.

NATURAL RESOURCES INTERIM COMMITTEE
Monday, October 28, 2024 – Minutes – Page 3

https://legislature.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/sessioninfo/2024/interim/241028_natr_03_TEWALT_2024 quagga treatment.pdf


• Sen. Guthrie inquired about outlawing or limiting ballast boats. Ms. Tewalt explained that the
ISDA was not the enforcement authority for that option.

At 11:25 a.m., the committee recessed for lunch.

DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES UPDATE

At 1:00 p.m., Mat Weaver, Director of the Idaho Dept. of Water Resources (IDWR), provided
his IDWR Update.
• Rep. Blanksma inquired about the increase in the number of cases that occurred 2019-2020. Mr.

Weaver surmised that there were less cases in 2019 due to the effects of COVID.
• Sen. Harris inquired about the Idaho statutes involved in the U.S. v. State of Idaho case. Mr.

Weaver noted that besides Idaho Code 42-222 (transfer statute) and 42-224 (forfeiture of
stockwater rights), which had been ruled on, that 42-113 (in-stream and other uses for livestock),
42-502 (federal agencies stockwater rights), and 42-504 (effective legal change of ownership)
were affected.

• Sen. Guthrie requested more information about why adjudication occurred in 1951 and then
again in 1996. Mr. Weaver explained that water rights existed prior to statehood. The department
managed ground water conjunctively with surface water rights, unlike most states. He noted
that the Snake River Basin water district was initiated in the mid 1980s. The department lacked
rules/authority to make calls, so ground water rules were created in 1996. Recent ground water
calls in 2005 created much of the recent activity.

• Sen. Guthrie asked for an explanation about how "calls" were administered when there was not a
water district. Mr. Weaver explained that the department was not able to create water districts
all across the state but initiated them when needed; the department does create or modify 2-3
districts per year with current staffing capabilities.

• Sen. Burtenshaw inquired how many new FTPs the department would need to be effective. Mr.
Weaver was unable to cite a number but noted that the department's 2025 budget did request
more staff in order to meet current timelines, which exceeded current staff availability.

ESPA GWMA GROUND WATER MANAGEMENT PLAN

At 1:30 p.m., James Cefalo, Eastern Region Manager for IDWR, provided his presentation on the
Eastern Snake Plain Aquifer Ground Water Management Area advisory Committee. No questions
were asked.

BOARD PROGRAMS AND PROJECTS UPDATE

At 1:40 p.m., Jeff Raybould, Chairman of the Idaho Water Resource Board (IWRB), provided his
presentation on Idaho Water Resource Board Programs and Projects. No questions were asked.

ESPA MITIGATION PLAN UPDATE

Mr. Raybould remained at the podium to segue into the IWRB's participation on the ESPA mitigation
plan. Mr. Raybould reported that a meeting held the previous week resulted in an agreement
between the surface and ground water users. Essentially, the plan would begin January 2024 and
continue for four years and renew every four years, unless there was an objection. It identified the
amount of water that would be provided to users and it was the responsibility of each water user to
manage the allotment. He noted that water recharge efforts would result in a one-to-one match. He
also noted that an agreement on the current litigation(s) was also mitigated.

NATURAL RESOURCES INTERIM COMMITTEE
Monday, October 28, 2024 – Minutes – Page 4

https://legislature.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/sessioninfo/2024/interim/241028_natr_04_WEAVER_INRC_lMeeting_202401028 - IDWR Update - M Weaver (1).pdf
https://legislature.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/sessioninfo/2024/interim/241028_natr_05_CEFALO_10-28-2024 Natural Resources Interim Committee - ESPA GWMA - J Cefalo.pdf
https://legislature.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/sessioninfo/2024/interim/241028_natr_06_RAYBOULD_IWRB_Interim Natural Resource Com_20241025.pdf


Scott Bedke, Lieutenant Governor, also provided comments to the committee regarding the proposed
Eastern Snake Plain Aquifer (ESPA) mitigation plan. He applauded all individuals who participated
in the negotiations. He noted these differences from the previous agreement: removed the
requirement that all nine water districts had to be in agreement and now allows each district to act
independently to meet the requirements and be rewarded without consequences of bad actors;
creates framework around private recharge; stipulates an allotment of water to be managed over a
four-year term; and establishes a method for accountability. He noted that the districts needed to
ratify the agreement and no legislation was needed for approval.

• Rep. Blanksma inquired about the user parity on metering. Mr. Raybould reported that monthly
readings of the current meters would be required either by telemetry or self-reporting (to begin
2026). Rep. Blanksma asked whether the manual readings were on the "honor system." Mr.
Raybould responded "yes," and added that the water master for each district would still verify
the annual reading. He acknowledged that meters do break but this method would catch the
broken meter sooner than an annual reading.

• Sen. Guthrie noted that his district had no ground water management and it was very frustrating.
He opined on the possibility that expensive, man-created projects to conserve water have
inadvertently limited the available surface water to naturally recharge the aquifer.

With no further business before the committee, the meeting was adjourned at 2:38 p.m.

NATURAL RESOURCES INTERIM COMMITTEE
Monday, October 28, 2024 – Minutes – Page 5


